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I. Introduction

The CFA Society of Orange County Foundation (“CFAOCF” or “Foundation”) is requesting proposals from qualified student management teams for the management of a portion of the CFAOCF’s investment fund.  CFAOCF is a 501(c)(3) nonprofit public benefit corporation. The CFAOCF is overseen by the Board of Directors of the CFA Society of Orange County (CFAOC). 

The purpose of this proposal is to identify and select a student team to provide investment management services to assist the CFAOCF Board of Directors to meet its objective of managing the Foundation’s funds in accordance with sound investment management policies, practices and procedures and in compliance with State and Federal regulations. 

In selecting the student investment management team, the Foundation will take into consideration the team’s experience, depth of resources, and level of personal commitment toward the investment management process. The selected team must demonstrate capability in the areas of asset allocation, security selection, and compliance.

The portfolios to be managed pursuant to this RFP have the following characteristics:

· There are currently three portfolios managed under the supervision of the CFAOCF. A spreadsheet showing their values and current holdings will be forwarded to all competing teams.

· All CFAOCF portfolios are benchmarked to 70% S&P 500 Index and 30% LGCI Index

· The management of all portfolios must follow the CFAOCF Investment Policy Statement guidelines (see Appendices A and B)

II. Specifications of the RFP

II. Response Deadline: Proposals (including 9 hardcopies of the written response) must be received by the Investment Policy Committee of the CFA Society of Orange County Foundation at or before the beginning of their meeting at noon on Friday, November 19th, 2010. All student teams that are submitting a response must also make an oral presentation to the Investment Policy Committee at this meeting. Any Proposal not meeting this deadline will not be accepted or considered. Faxed or electronic transmissions are NOT acceptable.

Electronic copies of the proposal must also be sent to:

Benjamin Lau, President, Board of Directors, CFAOCF

· bclau76@gmail.com
Timothy A. Stevens, Chair, Investment Policy Committee, CFAOCF

· tastevens@cox.net
NO AMENDMENTS WILL BE ACCEPTED AFTER THE CLOSING DATE AND TIME.

The questions and/or requests made in this RFP should be duplicated in their entirety in the Proposal, with each question and/or request repeated before the associated answer or response.

II. Required Attachments and Enclosures.   In addition to the responses to the RFP questions, the forms referred to in Section V, below, must be attached to the proposing team’s response.

II. Withdrawal/Irrevocability of Responses.   A proposing team may withdraw and resubmit a Proposal prior to the Proposal Deadline. No withdrawals or resubmissions will be allowed after the Proposal Deadline.

II. Waiver/Cure of Minor Informalities, Errors and Omissions.   The Board reserves the right to waive or permit cure for minor informalities, errors, or omissions prior to the selection of finalists, and to conduct discussion with any qualified proposing teams and to take any other measures with respect to this RFP in any manner necessary to serve the best interests of the foundation and its beneficiaries.

II. Incurring Costs.   Neither the Board of Directors nor the Foundation will be liable for any costs incurred in the preparation of a proposal in response to this request.

II. Rejection of Proposals.   The Board reserves the right to reject any non-qualifying Proposal. The Board also reserves the right to reject in part or in its entirety any proposal received in response to this RFP if it is in the best interests of the Foundation to do so.

II. Award Subject to Approval.   All proposing teams are hereby advised that any proposal that is selected will be subject to (1) the approval of the CFAOCF Board of Directors and (2) the approval of the CFA Society of Orange County Board of Directors. The CFAOC Board of Directors has the sole discretion of final approval.

II. Cancellation of RFP.   The Board of Directors reserves the right to cancel this process or terminate the search at any time.
III. Manager Minimum Qualifications

A proposing team must meet the following minimum criteria to be given further consideration in the Board of Directors’ search for a student investment management team pursuant to this RFP. Failure of a team to meet the minimum criteria will result in the Proposal’s immediate rejection.

· The sponsoring college or university must be accredited and have a substantial presence in Orange County; 

· The proposing team must include a minimum of five (5) team members;

· Each of the team members must be a currently enrolled student;

· Each of the team members must be a junior or senior or a graduate student;

· Each of the team members must be interested in investment management and must have completed or be currently enrolled in investments-related coursework;

· The team must have a committed faculty advisor; and

· Each team member and the faculty advisor must sign statements of commitment to the term and the project.

IV. Search Timeline

	November 19th, 2010,

Noon
	RFP responses are due and presentations must be made to the Investment Policy Committee of the CFAOCF

	November 29th, 2010
	Judges’ responses due to the Chair of the Investment Policy Committee for compilation of results

	December 1st, 2010
	Conference call for IPC members to review tabulated results and discuss the rankings

	December 3rd, 2010
	Announcement by CFAOCF of winning teams

	January 1, 2011
	Winning teams will commence management of their respective portfolios for the 2010 calendar year


V. Required Forms

The team must complete the following questionnaire (Section VI). In addition, Appendices I, II, III, and IV must also be completed.

Each student team member is required to complete the biographical form found in Appendix I: Student Biography.

The faculty advisor must complete the form found in Appendix II: Faculty Advisor Biography.

The team as a whole must complete Appendix III – Organizational Chart and Appendix IV – Investment Process Flow Chart.

RESPONSES MUST BE MADE ON THE ENCLOSED FORMS WITH NO MODIFICATIONS. INCOMPLETE FORMS OR MISSING FORMS WILL RESULT IN THE PROPOSAL BEING REJECTED.

VI. Questionnaire

	Date of Response:
	

	Name of School:
	

	Faculty Advisor:
	

	Title of Advisor:
	

	Address:
	

	Address:
	

	City, State Zip
	

	Telephone:
	

	Fax:
	

	E-Mail:
	

	
	

	Student Contact:
	

	Address:
	

	Address:
	

	City, State Zip
	

	Telephone:
	

	Fax:
	

	E-Mail:
	


Directions:  To achieve a uniform review process and obtain the maximum degree of comparability, it is required that the proposal be organized in the following manner: 

1.1 Title Page: Please present the information requested in the above table on the title page.

1.2 State the question in bold font with your answers stated in regular font. Responses should be thorough and answer the specific question asked (including the issues addressed in the bullet points).

1.3 Adhere to the same numbering scheme used in the questionnaire. Answer the questions in the same order in which they were asked.   

1.4 Adhere to the stated page limits. Answers should be thorough but concise. For the purpose of adhering to the page limits, the questions should not be considered as part of the response.

1.5 Adhere to page and style formats. The responses must be submitted in Microsoft Word compatible format, single-spaced with 1” page margins. Font should be 12 point, preferably Times New Roman.

1.6 Save the document and submit it electronically to CFAOCF. Save files with a ‘.doc’ extension and do not leave any blank spaces in the name. Responses must be sent as attachments by e-mail to the CFAOCF Board of Directors.

Note that this questionnaire includes two subsections:  (A) Organization / People; and (B) Investment Philosophy / Investment Process. 

Also note that many of these questions may be difficult to answer, especially in view of the fact that you are students who have had a limited amount of experience and prior academic preparation. If you are not sure how to answer a given question (or if you are not sure what the question is asking in the first place), you are welcome to call on your assigned CFAOCF representative for advice. Our goal is to enhance the educational opportunities available to Orange County investment students, and we view this Request For Proposal not only as a means for eliciting information from potential student investment-management teams, but also as an educational instrument in its own right. As such, the questions will challenge what you know (and what you think you know) about the investment analysis and portfolio management process. So, do your best to answer your questions to the best of your ability, and you may learn something before it is done!

Good luck, and we look forward to reading your response!

B. Organization / People

1. Describe the background of your University and the investment-related education it provides. Include in your description the following information:

· Year school was founded

· Department[s] involved

· Majors offered (economics, finance, other investment-related majors)

· How long majors offered

· Specific investment-related courses offered

· Are any of these courses designed to prepare students for the CFA program or the Level I CFA Exam?

· Does the school currently have any student-managed investment funds?

· Does the school currently have a chapter of FMA or a similar organization or investment club?

· School’s culture and level of support for this project

2. Describe the structure of your student investment-management team. In your description, address the following issues:

· How your team is structured:

· Does each team member have a specific, assigned role, or do team members work as part of multi-functional teams?

· The role of each team member in the various functions of the portfolio management process, such as:

· Analysts – funds, fixed income, equity

· Portfolio managers

· Traders

· Compliance officers

· Other

· Who is responsible for, and how decisions are made with regard to the various aspects of the portfolio management process, such as:

· Investment strategy

· Asset allocation

· Portfolio construction

· Research

· Security selection

· Trading

· Compliance

· Other

· Describe the communications links between the groups within given product areas and across the product areas

· Describe where, when, and how often meetings will be held

3. Describe the benefits and incentives for students to participate in this program

· How team members are chosen

· Who is eligible to participate 

· Does the school put additional requirements on students beyond the requirements by CFAOCF?

· Number of quarter or semester college credits required for participation

· Does the school grant any academic credit in connection with this program?

· How, and under what conditions, will replacement team members be selected?

IN ADDITION TO PROVIDING THE ABOVE ANSWERS, THE TEAM MUST COMPLETE APPENDIX III – Organizational Chart
4. Describe the background of the students and faculty advisor of the team.

IN ANSWERING THIS QUESTION, EACH STUDENT TEAM MEMBER MUST COMPLETE APPENDIX I – STUDENT BIOGRAPHY, AND THE FACULTY ADVISOR MUST COMPLETE APPENDIX II – FACULTY ADVISOR BIOGRAPHY.

5. Why is your team uniquely qualified to manage the investment portfolio of the CFAOC Foundation?

C. Investment Philosophy / Investment Process

PHILOSOPHICAL AND ECONOMIC OVERVIEW:

1. What is your team’s investment philosophy?

· What investment beliefs guide your investment decisions?

· What market anomalies or inefficiencies are you trying to capture, if any?

· Why do you believe this philosophy will be successful in the future? 

· Provide evidence or research in support of this belief

2. Will your approach include passive strategies such as indexation? If so, please describe the role such strategies will play and how you will implement them.

MARKET OVERVIEW AND ASSET ALLOCATION:

3. What is your capital market outlook for the coming year?

· Describe how your capital market projections are derived.

4. What is your target asset allocation?

· Describe your methodology for determining this asset allocation.

· Do you use any asset allocation software? If so, is it developed in-house or purchased externally? If purchased, who is the vendor?

5. What do you think are reasonable performance goals for the coming year?

6. Apart from the S&P 500 and the LGCI (Lehman Government and Corporate Bond Index), what would you view as the most appropriate performance benchmark(s) for your portfolio?

7. What is your target sector / industry allocation? What is your methodology for determining this allocation?

FIXED-INCOME VALUATION AND SELECTION:

8. Which of the following instruments would you regard as appropriate for the fixed-income portion of your portfolio?

	
	Appropriate
	Inappropriate

	Cash Equivalents
	(  )
	(  )

	Treasury Notes and Bonds
	(  )
	(  )

	Corp. Bonds Rated Baa or Better
	(  )
	(  )

	Mortgage-Backed Securities
	(  )
	(  )

	Non-investment Grade Corp. Bonds
	(  )
	(  )

	Options and/or Futures
	(  )
	(  )

	Other _______________________
	(  )
	(  )


9. What are the target maximum, minimum, and average maturities and durations for the fixed-income portion of the portfolio?

	
	Maximum
	Minimum
	Average

	Maturity
	_____ Yrs
	_____ Yrs
	_____ Yrs

	Duration
	_____ Yrs
	_____ Yrs
	_____ Yrs


10. What is the target sector / industry allocation for the fixed-income portion of the portfolio? Is it the same as the target for your equity holdings? If it is different, what is your methodology for determining this allocation? 

EQUITY VALUATION AND SELECTION:

11. Describe your general equity selection and valuation approach. Discuss where your approach would line up along the following dimensions:

· Passive vs. active management

· Top-down vs. bottom-up

· Fundamental vs. quantitative vs. technical

· Value vs. growth

· Large-cap vs. mid-cap vs. small-cap

· International vs. U.S.

· Market timing vs. sector rotation vs. “long-term buy and hold”

12. Describe your equity security selection and valuation process.

· What valuation methods are used in analyzing stocks?

· What market capitalization and liquidity ranges meet your requirements?

· What specific fundamental factors (P/B, earnings, growth, sales margins, etc.) are integral to the stock selection process? What is the relative importance of these factors?

· Under what circumstances would the team deviate from this discipline?

13. What are the target characteristics for the equity portion of your portfolio, relative to the S&P 500, along the following dimensions? Would every stock within your portfolio be expected to satisfy these characteristics?

	
	Less than S&P 500
	Approx. Equal to S&P 500
	Greater than S&P 500
	Varies Widely

	Market Capitalization
	(  )
	(  )
	(  )
	(  )

	Portfolio Beta
	(  )
	(  )
	(  )
	(  )

	P/E Ratio
	(  )
	(  )
	(  )
	(  )

	P/B Ratio
	(  )
	(  )
	(  )
	(  )

	Dividend Yield
	(  )
	(  )
	(  )
	(  )

	Earnings Growth Rate
	(  )
	(  )
	(  )
	(  )


14. Discuss your equity diversification guidelines, and describe your targets for the equity portion of the portfolio in terms of the following characteristics. Briefly describe how these targets were chosen.

· Sector / Industry allocation percentages

· Average percent invested

· Number of stocks in portfolio

· Number of funds in portfolio

15. Describe your sell discipline for individual equities.

· Under what circumstances would you deviate from this discipline?

MUTUAL FUND VALUATION AND SELECTION:

16. What is your selection process for mutual funds (fixed-income, balanced, or equity)?

· What criteria do you use in selecting funds?

· How do you monitor the success of a fund manager?

17. What is your sell discipline for mutual funds?

· What criteria will you use to recommend selling a fund?

GENERAL ISSUES IN PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT AND CONSTRUCTION:

18. Describe your portfolio construction process. Include in your answer the following information:

· What is the universe from which your securities are selected?

· What types or classes of securities are included (common, preferred, convertible, derivatives, etc.)?

· How many issues will be considered for inclusion in the portfolio?

· How will individual security weightings be determined?

· Discuss any quantitative and qualitative processes you will use in portfolio construction.

· Will you utilize any portfolio optimization techniques?

· How important a consideration is benchmark-tracking error in the portfolio construction process? Will it be measured and managed? If so, how?

· What latitude will be given to individual portfolio managers within the team? Who has ultimate decision-making authority and accountability?

19. What is your team’s definition of risk with respect to this portfolio? How is portfolio risk managed and monitored? Describe all risk management functions and tools used. Also answer the following questions, if applicable:

· Do you intend to use cash reserves as a method of risk control?

· Describe how you monitor and manage:

i. Residual risk versus the benchmark

ii. Common factor risks

iii. Security and industry weightings, and

iv. Value at risk.

· Describe any risk measurement models (e.g., Wilshire Atlas, BARRA, etc.) that are used and how this analysis is incorporated into the portfolio management process.

20. How will you monitor the portfolio’s adherence to its investment guidelines? Specify who is responsible for compliance. What checks and balances do you have in place?

21. Describe your policy on rebalancing your portfolio. 

· Frequency, triggers, or bands?

22. Describe the sources of information used to select securities and how this information will be processed.

· Are you seeking unique sources of information?

· Are you applying unique approaches to process this information?

· What percentage of time and resources does your team devote to the top-down (macro-economic) aspect of your approach versus the bottom-up (security selection) aspect?

23. How much involvement would the team require/like to have with CFAOCF?

· How many meetings would you like the CFAOCF to attend? How frequently? How much input/advice would you like from CFAOCF?

24. Attach any additional information to describe your investment process that you would like the CFAOCF to consider.

COMPLETE APPENDIX IV - INVESTMENT PROCESS FLOW CHART

 APPENDIX I: STUDENT BIOGRAPHY

	Name
	

	Address
	

	Phone:
	Fax:

	Email
	

	EDUCATION

	Circle One: Junior    Senior   Grad Student
	Circle one:  Full-time   Part-time

	What is your major?
	

	Why did you choose your major?
	

	Why did you choose this school?
	

	Indicate semester or quarter units taken in each subject:
	____ sem/qtr Economics       ____ sem/qtr Finance  ____sem/qtr Investments      ____sem/qtr Accounting

	Specify title of specific investment or finance related courses taken or currently enrolled in:
	

	Are you a
	____ CFA Candidate   ____ CFA Charterholder  ____ Neither

	What other degrees or professional designations do you hold?
	

	EMPLOYMENT

	Employment:
	Circle one:     Full-time      Part-time    Not Currently Employed

	Employer:
	

	Title/Responsibility:
	

	Length at Present Employer
	

	OTHER QUALIFICATIONS

	Describe any experience you have had personally or through employment with investing.
	

	Please describe briefly your motivation for participating in this project.
	

	Why are you qualified to be a part of this team?
	

	What benefit do you expect to derive from participation in this project?
	

	COMPLIANCE and DISCIPLINARY QUESTIONS

	Are you a registered representative of a broker/dealer?
	YES     NO

	Disclose any areas of potential conflicts of interest between other business activities you conduct and management of the Foundation Fund.
	

	Disclose personal stocks owned (or attach brokerage statement)
	

	Have you ever been convicted of or plead guilty or “no contest” to a felony?
	YES     NO

	Have you ever been convicted of or plead guilty or “no contest” to a misdemeanor involving: investments or an investment-related business?
	YES     NO

	Has the SEC or CFTC or any other federal or state regulatory agency or any self-regulatory organization in the last 10 years:

	(1) found you to have made a false statement or omission?
	YES     NO

	(2) found you to have been involved in a violation of a regulation or statute?
	YES     NO

	(3) found you to have been a cause of an investment-related business having its authorization to do business denied, suspended, revoked, or restricted?
	YES     NO

	(4) entered an order against you in connection with investment-related activity?
	YES     NO

	(5) imposed civil money penalty or ordered you to cease and desist from any activity?
	YES     NO

	(6) ever denied, suspended, or revoked your registration or license or otherwise prevented you from associating with an investment-related business or any advisory affiliate activity?
	YES     NO

	Please provide an explanation to any questions to which you answered Yes above:
	

	Within the last five years, have you been involved in any litigation or other legal proceeding relating to Regulatory, Compliance, Legal, Custody, Investment advisory or other activities? If so, provide an explanation and indicate the current status or disposition.
	YES     NO


I hereby certify that all the above information is true and accurate to the best of my knowledge. I further commit that if selected as a member of the winning TEAM, I will participate in this project for the full duration and upon selection will sign a statement that I will adhere to the CFA Institute Code of Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct.

________________________________

Printed Name

________________________________

Signature

________________________________

Date

Please attach a current resume.

(Note: The students should also develop a compliance process for getting pre-approval for any personal trading activities.)

APPENDIX II: FACULTY ADVISOR BIOGRAPHY

	Name
	

	Title
	

	Address
	

	Phone:
	Fax:

	Email
	

	EDUCATION

	Please indicate the school, major, decree, and year:



	Are you a?
	____ CFA Candidate   ____ CFA Charterholder  ____ Neither

	What other professional designations do you hold?
	

	EMPLOYMENT

	Faculty:
	Circle one:     Full-time      Part-time    Tenured

	Length at Present Employer
	

	OTHER QUALIFICATIONS

	Describe any experience you have had personally or through employment with investing.
	

	Please describe briefly your motivation for participating in this project.
	

	Why are you qualified to serve as advisor for this team?
	

	What benefit do you expect to derive from participation in this project?
	

	COMPLIANCE and DISCIPLINARY QUESTIONS

	Are you a registered representative of a broker/dealer?
	YES     NO

	Disclose any areas of potential conflicts of interest between other business activities you conduct and management of the Foundation Fund.
	

	Do you agree to follow CFA Institute’s Code of Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct in your capacity as advisor to the student investment-management team?
	YES     NO

	Have you ever been convicted of or plead guilty or “no contest” to a felony?
	YES     NO

	Have you ever been convicted of or plead guilty or “no contest” to a misdemeanor involving: investments or an investment-related business?
	YES     NO

	Has the SEC or CFTC or any other federal or state regulatory agency or any self-regulatory organization in the last 10 years:

	(1) found you to have made a false statement or omission?
	YES     NO

	(2) found you to have been involved in a violation of a regulation or statute?
	YES     NO

	(3) found you to have been a cause of an investment-related business having its authorization to do business denied, suspended, revoked, or restricted?
	YES     NO

	(4) entered an order against you in connection with investment-related activity?
	YES     NO

	(5) imposed civil money penalty or ordered you to cease and desist from any activity?
	YES     NO

	(6) ever denied, suspended, or revoked your registration or license or otherwise prevented you from associating with an investment-related business or any advisory affiliate activity?
	YES     NO

	Please provide an explanation to any questions to which you answered Yes above:
	

	Within the last five years, have you been involved in any litigation or other legal proceeding relating to Regulatory, Compliance, Legal, Custody, Investment advisory or other activities? If so, provide an explanation and indicate the current status or disposition.
	YES     NO


APPENDIX III: ORGANIZATIONAL CHART

Provide an organizational chart that diagrams the different functions (research, trading, portfolio management, etc.). Each team member should be identified along with his or her area of responsibility.

APPENDIX IV: INVESTMENT PROCESS FLOW CHART

Illustrate the investment process in a flow chart identifying the decision making steps, decision makers and outcomes.

APPENDIX A: CFAOCF Investment Policy Statement

The purpose of this statement is to provide a clear understanding of the investment objectives, policies, and guidelines for the CFAOCF.  This statement will outline an overall philosophy that is specific enough to allow the Student Investment Management Team to know what is expected, while at the same time giving flexibility for changing economic conditions.

Return Objective: The CFAOCF’s total annual return objective is equal to the spending rate plus the expected tuition inflation rate, thus maintaining the real value of the scholarships and the fund.  

To guide the Student Investment Management Team, it is suggested that this long-term objective can be achieved by adhering in the short-term to a benchmark composed of 70% S&P 500 Index and 30% Barclays Government Corporate Intermediate Index (BGCI).

Definitions:

Total annual return equals the sum of dividends, interest, and other current income, plus the net impact of price change, time-adjusted for capital additions and withdrawals, all after transaction costs and management fees, for a given fiscal year.

Spending rate, set as a percentage of the previous year’s ending market value, includes annual scholarships and all management expenses, and is initially targeted at 6% (5% for scholarships and 1% for operating expenses). 

Tuition inflation rate is the average rise in tuition cost at the 6 major Orange County/Long Beach Universities offering business programs in Orange County, California (Chapman, CSULB, CSUF, Pepperdine, UCI, USC) over the academic year.

Risk Tolerance: The need to pay out annual scholarships and to maintain the real value of those scholarships; the inexperienced and annually rotating management team; and the expectations of the learning process, all dictate moderate risk for the fund.

Time Horizon: Infinite foundation horizon, short-term management horizon.

Liquidity Requirements: Due to the long-term life of the foundation minimum liquidity is required to meet the periodic distributions described by the spending rate. As a public foundation, the initial targeted spending rate is 6%, with that rate being set annually by the IPC. 1% is targeted for operating expenses throughout the year. These liquidity needs are typically satisfied via Foundation funds that are separate from the student-managed portfolios. Thus, although the Foundation’s Investment Policy Statement establishes target asset allocation guidelines for these portfolios (see below), there are no specific liquidity requirements imposed on the operations of the student investment-management teams.

Tax Considerations:


Public foundations unlike private foundations are not subject to excise taxes.

Regulatory Issues: 

In general foundations are subject to little in the way of federal regulation.  The fund would be subject to California State regulation of foundations.

Unique Circumstances:

The CFAOCF faces a unique challenge in that its fund assets are overseen by the volunteer Investment Policy Committee and managed by the Student Investment Management Team, both with changing memberships each year.  Both of these groups will consist of members with varying levels of investment skill, experience, and understanding.  They will have a wide range of personal preferences, prejudices, and investment styles.

i. Portfolio Guidelines

Permissible Investments 

· All assets must have readily ascertainable market value and be easily marketable.

· Any proposed position requires the submission to the IPC of concrete evidence of due diligence conducted on the proposed investment.

· Equity

· Equity investments may be chosen from the NYSE, the AMEX, the Nasdaq, and regional exchanges.

· The portfolio will be generally fully invested with minimal emphasis on market timing and broadly diversified, with no individual equity exceeding 5%, no industry exceeding 10%, and no sector exceeding 30% of the equity portfolio at time of purchase. Sectors and industries for the S&P 500 are defined by Barra and can be found at:  http://www.barra.com/research/sector_detail.asp.  If any individual stock should rise to 10% of the equity portion of the portfolio, the security must be sold down to at least 5% of the equity portfolio.

· Market capitalization restrictions:

· Investment in stocks of firms with a total market capitalization of less than $500 million is prohibited.

· No more than 50% of the equity allocation of the portfolio may be invested in small-cap stocks (market capitalization of between $500 million and $2 billion).

· Up to 100% of the equity allocation of the portfolio may be invested in mid- to large-cap stocks (market capitalization of greater than $2 billion).

· Foreign equities are limited to ADRs, U.S. listed foreign stocks, and ETFs and should not exceed 30% of the equity portfolio at time of purchase.

· Fixed Income

· Investments in fixed income securities should be limited to mutual funds or exchange traded funds (ETFs) until such time as the Fund grows to $500,000 in assets.

· Exchange-Traded Funds (ETFs)

· The use of ETFs must be consistent with the guidelines of the IPS.

· The holdings of any proposed ETF position must conform to the restrictions and diversification guidelines of the IPS.

· The trading techniques utilized by the proposed ETF must also conform with the trading techniques allowed by the IPS.

· Equity ETFs:

· One or more broad market ETFs (e.g., SPY, NYC) can comprise a total of no more than 50% of the equity allocation of the portfolio.

· No non-broad-based equity ETFs can comprise more than 10% of the equity allocation of the portfolio.

· Fixed Income ETFs:

· Up to 100% of the fixed income allocation of the portfolio may be invested in one or more well-diversified fixed income ETFs.

· Other Assets

· The Manager may not purchase assets other than those previously mentioned without a written permission from the CFAOC Board of Directors.

Prohibited Transactions and Types

· Buying on margin

· Short selling

· Any ETFs utilizing leverage, short positions, or the equivalent are also prohibited.

· Option trading

· Commodity trading including all futures contracts

· Private Placements

Asset Allocation

It is understood that changing market cycles require that some flexibility in asset allocation be permissible.  With this in mind, minimum and maximum asset allocation restrictions are given to allow movement of capital within the asset classes as deemed appropriate by the Managers for the purpose of increasing investment returns and/or reducing risk.  Accordingly, the allowable asset mix ranges are as follows:

	Asset Type
	Acceptable Target Range

	Cash
	0-20%

	Equities
	0-100%

	Fixed Income
	0-100%


Turnover

Due to the uniqueness of the annually changing management of the fund and the likely desire for each new management team to invoke its own style, annual portfolio turnover is limited to 125% if the portfolio is held in cash at the start of the year (to enable the team to fully invest the portfolio and then still have some leeway to sell “losing” positions during this initial year) and 75% if the portfolio is fully invested (in accordance with the above asset allocation guidelines) at the start of the year.

Review Procedures

The Investment Policy Committee will review all objectives, policies, and guidelines for appropriateness and adherence, on at least an annual basis.

Evaluating Performance

The IPC will evaluate the performance of the fund against a benchmark consisting of 70% S&P 500 Index and 30% LGCI Index.  The Student Investment Management Team is welcome to benchmark against a short-term style benchmark.

APPENDIX B: CFAOCF Portfolio Operations Manual

ii. Defined terms: 

PORTFOLIO = the CFAOCF portfolio.

TEAM = The Management Team for the PORTFOLIO.

IPS = The Investment Policy Statement for the PORTFOLIO.

IPC = The CFAOCF Investment Policy Committee, charged with oversight of the PORTFOLIO.

iii. CFA Institute Code & Standards 

Each member of the TEAM (including the faculty advisor(s)) will affirm, in writing, their adherence to CFA Institute’s Code of Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct in conjunction with the management of the PORTFOLIO.  CFAOCF will provide copies of the CFA Institute Code of Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct to each TEAM member and to the faculty advisor(s).

iv. TEAM Structure

The TEAM will consist of a group of at least five undergraduate or graduate students and at least one faculty advisor.  Eligible students will have at least junior or graduate student status and intend to graduate no sooner than the end of the portfolio management term.  There will be a standard calendar for each year’s activities.  The 20XX TEAM will (1) apply to manage the PORTFOLIO during the Fall 20(XX-1) semester; (2) be selected no later than December 15, 20(XX-1); (3) begin its management activities on January 1, 20XX; (4) manage the PORTFOLIO through December 31, 20XX, providing quarterly reports to the IPC; (5) prepare an annual report covering the activities and outcomes of the PORTFOLIO from January 1, 20XX through December 31, 20XX; and (5) make a formal presentation regarding the PORTFOLIO’s performance during the 20XX calendar year at a special event held just prior to CFAOC’s annual Forecast Dinner in January of 200(XX+1).  Therefore, eligible students for the 20XX TEAM must plan to graduate no sooner than December 20XX.  

The faculty advisor can be any business school professor (or other instructor officially recognized by the university); however, the application process will make note of the professor’s (1) educational background within the investments area; (2) professional background, qualifications, and certifications within the investments area; (3) teaching experience within the investments area; and (4) willingness to design, obtain approval for, and teach an appropriate course to the TEAM in conjunction with their management of the PORTFOLIO (note: this course may be open to non-team members, allowing for smaller schools or those whose state funding makes teaching of small classes difficult.)  Nothing precludes the possibility of multiple faculty advisors. It is anticipated that the team advisor (or one of the advisors, in the case of multiple advisors) will serve as an ex-officio, non-voting member of the CFAOCF’s Investment Policy Committee.

v. Investment Process

 TEAM Meetings

The TEAM is expected to hold formal meetings on a regular basis.  Attendance at these meetings is one of the primary responsibilities of TEAM members.  Meetings should be scheduled weekly while school is in session, and at least monthly during the summer recess.  TEAM member attendance should be noted in the minutes of each meeting.  A TEAM member who misses more than one third of the weekly meetings during any semester should be removed from the program (i.e., a TEAM member who misses more than five weekly meetings during the Spring semester will not be permitted to participate during the following Fall semester and will be stricken from the TEAM’s roster and a TEAM member who misses more than five weekly meetings during the Fall semester will be stricken from the TEAM’s roster.)  More latitude is permitted during summer months, particularly if a TEAM member is employed at a geographic distance.  Latitude is, of course, also permitted in cases of adverse personal circumstances, at the discretion of the Faculty Advisor.

Minutes should be taken at each formal meeting of the TEAM, to include a list of those attending, a review of all performance results presented or discussed, a summary of the specific securities discussed, recommendations made, votes taken, and decisions made, and a copy of all reports or other written materials reviewed.  A journal or log should be constructed to compile these meeting minutes.  At the end of the year, one copy of this journal (and copies of previous year’s journals) will be provided to the new TEAM.  Another copy of the journal will be provided to the IPC for safekeeping.

It is recommended that one TEAM member be responsible for chairing each meeting and another be responsible for taking, transcribing, and distributing minutes and that these duties rotate among the TEAM members.  The duty for compiling the annual journal or log should rest with one person, either a selected TEAM member or the faculty advisor.

IPC members are welcome and encouraged to attend all TEAM meetings.  The faculty advisor is responsible for informing the IPC of the time and place of all team meetings.

Portfolio Goals and the IPS

All actions taken by the TEAM should reflect the IPS and the fiduciary obligations owed to the CFAOCF and future scholarship recipients.  The TEAM must remain mindful of this core responsibility and guard against placing their own desires for experience, activity, and excitement ahead of their clients’ wishes and needs.  The composition of the PORTFOLIO should at no time violate the guidelines on asset class, asset allocation, liquidity, diversification, concentration, or other matters defined in the IPS.  All additions to or deletions from the PORTFOLIO should be judged first by these criteria.  Within these constraints, the goal of the TEAM is to select securities that will create a PORTFOLIO that (1) has a permissible level of tracking error (defined as the standard deviation of monthly returns against the defined benchmark) and (2) earns positive excess returns relative to the benchmark, in that order of importance.

Oversight of PORTFOLIO Performance

On at least a monthly basis, the TEAM should analyze the performance of the PORTFOLIO, including return performance against the benchmark, cumulative tracking error, and individual security performance.  Correction of deviations from IPS guidelines (e.g., concentration limits, asset allocation requirements, tracking error constraints, etc.) should receive first priority.  Poorly performing individual holdings should be the target of further investigation and analysis.  The TEAM is encouraged to develop a clear “sell” discipline and apply it rigorously.  This discipline should be applied both to securities that have met their growth expectations and to significant underperformers.

Research and Analysis Process

The purpose of research and analysis of individual securities by TEAM members is to identify potential additions to, deletions from, or replacements for the PORTFOLIO.  Potential additions, deletions, or replacements with particular securities should be analyzed from four perspectives: (1) the effect the proposed action will have on the composition of the PORTFOLIO; (2) the current pricing of and anticipated return on the individual security; (3) the current condition and future prospects of the issuer of the security; and (4) the downside risks associated with the security (the events that could trigger significant underperformance.)  TEAM members are reminded that a strong issuer does not necessarily imply a good investment, as the security’s price may already reflect that strength and more.

The TEAM is encouraged to develop a standardized research report form to be completed for each security under consideration for addition to, deletion from, or replacement in the PORTFOLIO.  This report should include (1) the date of preparation; (2) the potential action to be taken (e.g., add, remove, replace and the volume recommended); (3) a checklist to insure that the potential action would leave the PORTFOLIO in compliance with IPS constraints; (4) indicators of current market pricing and investment desirability (e.g., P/E and PEG ratios, analyst opinions, past and projected pricing); (5) information regarding the health and future prospects of the issuer (including key accounting ratios (trend and comparison to industry), discussion of industry/issuer growth prospects, recent news, etc.); and (6) specific risks associated with the security and its issuer.

During regular meetings, TEAM members will make investment recommendations, using their research and analysis to support the recommendation.  A copy of each research and analysis report should be included in the minutes of the meeting at which it is presented.  Following an initial recommendation, the TEAM should discuss the report.  Additional information or analysis may be requested at this time.

Decision Making Process

All addition to, deletions from, a replacements in the PORTFOLIO must be approved by a majority (51% or more) of the TEAM members present when the vote is taken.  A quorum of at least 70% of the members of the TEAM must be physically present before a vote can be taken.  The vote on whether to approve a research and analysis recommendation [see (d)] will take place no sooner than the meeting following the initial recommendation.  If additional information or analysis was requested, the vote to approve may take place immediately following presentation and discussion of that information.  The faculty advisor will monitor all votes and ensure a quorum.

The faculty advisor retains veto power over all investment decisions, although this power should be used sparingly.  When a decision that requires positive action (i.e., the purchase or sale of securities) has been approved by the TEAM and the faculty advisor, the advisor (or the official student representative of the team, once the advisor’s approval has been given) should convey that decision within 24 hours, in writing (email suggested), along with minutes of the meeting in which the trade was approved, a record of the vote leading to the purchase request, and any supporting documentation that is required or requested, to the IPC.  The order should indicate the security, the volume, and whether it is a buy or a sell.  It is the responsibility of the IPC to order the approved trade within 48 of its receipt, barring a decision to veto the trade or a request for additional information about the proposed trade (see (f) below.)  Supporting documentation should include, at a minimum, a copy of the research and analysis report, as approved by the TEAM.

Trading Oversight and Control

Each PORTFOLIO trade requires (1) a majority approval by the TEAM; (2) approval by the faculty advisor; and (3) approval by the IPC or its designated representative.  All trades will be ordered by the IPC or its designated representative.  No member of the TEAM, nor its faculty advisor, will have trading authority.  The TEAM shall have account access to trading history and PORTFOLIO composition information only.  

In the event that the IPC or its representative deems a TEAM-approved trade undesirable, it is their responsibility to convey that belief and supporting information back to the TEAM and its faculty advisor, within 48 hours.  The IPC or its representative should limit its authority to block approved trades to instances of (1) failure to comply with the IPS; (2) incomplete or incorrect information; and (3) demonstrably faulty analysis.  A trade should not be blocked because it differs from IPC members’ personal or professional investment outlooks or preferences.

vi. Reporting Requirements

Meeting Minutes.  

As described in section (4)(a), Team Meetings, the TEAM is responsible for writing and maintaining detailed minutes of each meeting, to include TEAM member attendance, a summary of all issues discussed, recommendations made, actions approved, and copies of all materials reviewed.  These minutes will be maintained in a journal or log and copies of that journal (and all past journals) will pass at the end of the year from one TEAM to the next.  In addition, a copy of the journal will be provided to the IPC.  The IPC is responsible for maintaining historical journals in case they are lost or damaged by a TEAM.

Quarterly Report and Presentations to IPC  

On a quarterly basis, the TEAM will provide a PORTFOLIO performance report to the IPC.  The performance report will include (1) a summary of the PORTFOLIO condition at the beginning of the quarter; (2) a summary of all transactions (purchases, sales, dividends and interest earned, etc.) over the course of the quarter; (3) a summary of the PORTFOLIO condition at the end of the quarter; (4) monthly return performance relative to the benchmark during the quarter; and (5) cumulative tracking error.

Quarters run on a calendar basis (e.g., the first quarter of the year is January 1st through March 31st.)  The quarterly report is due to the IPC within 30 days of the end of the quarter (e.g., the first quarter’s report is due by April 30th.)  Note: The 2010 TEAM is responsible for completion of the 4th quarter 2010 report (as well as the 2010 annual report, described below.)
TEAMS are required to make quarterly presentations to the IPC.  The quarterly presentations will comprise of the quarterly performance report along with general market and economic update.  The calendar for the upcoming year is as follows:

	February 11, 2011

2pm
	Quarterly Review via Conference Call

	April 29, 2011

2pm
	Quarterly Review - location tbd


Annual Report and Presentation to CFAOC

On or before the end of January 2011 the 2010 TEAM will prepare and provide to the IPC an Annual Report summarizing the activities and performance of the PORTFOLIO during their tenure as its managers.  The information included in the report should include, at a minimum, the information contained in the four quarterly reports.  The report should include a discussion of the recommendations that the team made in its original RFP, the actual investment decisions that were made during the year, what changed from the original recommendation to the final implementation, and why.  Each TEAM is encouraged to produce a professional looking report that includes information about TEAM members, highlights from the year, and appropriate graphics.  Reasonable costs (to be approved in advance by the CFAOCF Board) for reproducing the Annual Report are deemed acceptable overhead costs to be reimbursed by CFAOC or the PORTFOLIO.  The Annual Report will be distributed to CFAOC members, the larger Orange County investments community, the local press, local academic institutions, and others.  The team will have the opportunity to make a presentation to the CFAOC and CFAOCF Boards of Trustees and committees and to significant donors at a special pre-Forecast Dinner event to be held on the same day as the Annual CFAOC Forecast Dinner.  

Contact Information

At the beginning of the year, complete contact information for the TEAM and its faculty advisor(s) will be provided to the IPC.  This should include TEAM member’s names, addresses, phone numbers, and email addresses.  In addition, the IPC will provide its members contact information to the TEAM and will designate one of its members as the primary contact for the TEAM.
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